THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2014-CP-10-5608
Appellate Case No. 2016-000886

James Bradley Williams and Robert Blair Kline, Jr. Petitioners,

v.

Merle S. Tamsberg..... Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RECEIVED
JAN 14 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Robert A. Kerr, Jr.
Lesley A. Firestone
MOORE & VAN ALLEN, PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 579-7000

Attorneys for Petitioners

Other Counsel of Record:

David M. Swanson, Esquire
Jane C. Bouch, Esquire
HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, PA
134 Meeting Street, 3rd Floor
Charleston, SC 29401

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent on the basis that the easement is an easement appurtenant, rather than an easement in gross, when there is no terminus on 47 Legare, the dominant estate, and the easement is not essentially necessary to the enjoyment of 47 Legare?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

This case concerns a dispute over the existence of an easement. The properties involved are located at 45 and 47 Legare Street in the City of Charleston, South Carolina. (R. pp. 1, 170-76). Prior to 1911, 45 and 47 Legare Street comprised one property. (R. p. 1). In 1911, the owner W.G. Hinson divided the property, conveying to his niece Julia R. Dill the northern portion of the property, the parcel currently being identified as 47 Legare, and reserving for himself the southern portion, now known as 45 Legare. (R. pp. 1-2, 157-58). In the conveyance to Julia Dill, Hinson also conveyed “the full and free use and enjoyment as an easement to run with the land of the right of ingress, egress, and regress, in, over, and through and upon the alleyway eight (8) feet wide, as a drive way or carriage way, situate, lying being immediately to the south of the above described property, and being the southern boundary of said above described lot of land.” (R. pp. 1-2, 157-58). This language is the genesis of the dispute. By its terms, the easement ran from Legare Street to the western property line of 45 Legare. (R. pp. 157-58).

Hinson died in 1917, and in 1919, his estate conveyed 45 Legare to his nieces Julia Dill, Pauline Dill, and Frances Dill. (R. pp. 159-61). Julia Dill and Frances Dill conveyed their interests to Pauline Dill, and on November 2, 1936, Pauline Dill conveyed 45 Legare to Henry deSaussure,

by deed recorded in Book F39 at Page 461 in the Charleston County R.M.C. (R. pp. 162-63). There is no reference to the easement in the conveyance. (R. pp. 162-63). Julia Dill remained the owner of 47 Legare.

45 Legare descended through the deSaussure family. When Julia Dill died in 1970, title to 45 Legare was vested in Margarett deSaussure Black, one of Henry deSaussure's daughters (hereinafter "Black"). (R. p. 164). South Carolina National Bank (the "Bank") was named executor of Julia Dill's estate and trustee of all assets. (R. p. 164). In 1971, stating that "a question ha[d] arisen as to the extent of said easement," the Bank conveyed the western portion of the easement to Black for consideration of one hundred dollars. (R. pp. 164-67). The deed references a Cummings and McCrady plat for the description of the conveyance. (R. p. 164). On the referenced plat, the section severed from the former easement is enclosed within the letters F, C, G, H, F. (R. pp. 164, 177).

On the same day, Black executed a Covenant for 45 Legare, which "reaffirm[ed] the existence of said easement, to the extent as agreed upon by the parties," referencing the same Cummings and McCrady plat the Bank did in its conveyance of the same date to her. (R. pp. 165-68). Black also covenanted that no structure would be erected within the easement and no obstruction would be placed thereon. (R. pp. 165-68). The area encumbered by the easement is shown "enclosed within the letters B, E, F, H, B, the line F, H being the terminus thereof." (R. p. 177).

On July 8, 1971, the Bank conveyed 47 Legare to Nancy Linton, which is "shown within the lines lettered AB, BC, CD, and DA" on the Cummings and McCrady plat. (R. pp. 169, 177). The Bank's conveyance of 47 Legare to Nancy Linton also included the easement over 45 Legare, defined as enclosed by the letters B, E, F, H, B on the Cummings and McCrady plat, for a driveway

or carriageway as previously conveyed by W.G. Hinson to Julia Dill. (R. pp. 169, 177). Linton conveyed 47 Legare to Merle and William Tamsberg on May 11, 1988. (R. pp. 170-173). The deed described 47 Legare as “more particularly shown within the lines lettered AB, BC, CD, and DA, on a plat thereof by Cummings & McCrady, Inc., dated February 1971,” and also included “an easement, to run with the land, over an adjoining strip of land shown on [the Cummings and McCrady] plat as enclosed within the letters B, E, F, H, and B, for ingress, egress, and regress, in, over, or through, and upon the said strip of land as a driveway or carriageway for the owner of Number 47.” (R. pp. 170-173, 177). Merle Tamsberg, the Respondent in this action, is the current owner of 47 Legare. (R. pp. 170-173).

Black died testate in 1997. (R. pp. 174-76). Her sons and legatees conveyed 45 Legare to James Bradley Williams and Robert Blair Kline, Jr. (“Williams and Kline”), Petitioners in this action, on May 17, 2004. (R. pp. 174-76). The easement was not mentioned in the deed to Williams and Kline. (R. pp. 174-76).

B. Procedural History

On September 12, 2014, Petitioners filed their Summons and Complaint in the Court of Commons Pleas for Charleston County, South Carolina, seeking a declaratory judgment as to the viability of an alleged easement encumbering their property. (R. pp. 13-17). Respondent answered the Complaint, denying all claims and raising affirmative defenses. Subsequently, Petitioners filed and served their Amended Complaint, and Respondent timely answered. (R. pp. 18-23). Thereafter, the parties engaged in limited discovery and then consented to a reference to the Charleston County Master in Equity (the “Master”).

The Master issued a scheduling order for the case providing that dispositive motions would be heard on March 2, 2016, and a trial date set thereafter. On February 10, 2016, Petitioners filed

their Motion for Summary Judgment and a supporting Memorandum and Affidavit. (R. pp. 24-62). On February 22, 2016, Respondent filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, and on March 1, 2016, served a memorandum in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment and in opposition to Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment and a supporting Memorandum. (R. pp. 63-88). A hearing was held on Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment on March 2, 2016, and a hearing was held on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on March 11, 2016, before the Master. (R. pp. 89-149). On March 29, 2016, the Master entered an Order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Order"). (R. pp. 1-12).

On April 25, 2016, Petitioners filed their Notice of Appeal of the Master's Order. On September 19, 2018, the Court of Appeals filed Opinion No. 5596, which affirmed the Master's Order. (App. pp. 230-43). In affirming the Master's Order, the Court of Appeals ruled that the easement was an easement appurtenant because there is a terminus on 47 Legare and the easement is essentially necessary to the enjoyment of 47 Legare, the dominant estate. (App. pp. 230-43).

Petitioners timely sought rehearing. (App. pp. 252-58). The Court of Appeals requested that Respondent file a return to Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. Respondent filed her Return on October 18, 2018. (App. pp. 252-58). The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing. (App. pp. 259-60). This Petition follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 242 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules sets forth certain circumstances which weigh in favor of this Court issuing a writ of certiorari to review a decision of the Court of Appeals. Among those circumstances are where: there are novel questions of law; there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals; the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a

prior decision of the Supreme Court; substantial constitutional issues are involved; and a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Rule 242(b), SCACR. Rule 242(b), SCACR, makes clear that the Court is not limited by the stated reasons within the rule as those reasons do not fully measure this Court's discretion or power to grant review of a case.

ARGUMENTS

I. **IN CONCLUDING THAT THE EASEMENT IN QUESTION IS AN EASEMENT APPURTENANT AND NOT AN EASEMENT IN GROSS, THE COURT OF APPEALS CONTRADICTS AND MISAPPLIES SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS CASE LAW REGARDING THE GRANT OF AN EASEMENT.**

Determining whether an easement is in gross or appurtenant is a question in equity because it involves the extent of a grant of an easement. *Rhett v. Gray*, 401 S.C. 478, 492, 736 S.E.2d 873, 881 (Ct. App. 2012). On appeal in an action in equity, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence. *Grosshuesch v. Cramer*, 367 S.C. 1, 4, 623 S.E.2d 833, 834 (2005). Thus, this Court may reverse a factual finding by the trial court in such cases when the petitioner satisfies the Court that the finding is against the greater weight of the evidence. *Campbell v. Carr*, 361 S.C. 258, 263, 603 S.E.2d 625, 627 (Ct. App. 2004).

Easements are either appurtenant or in gross.¹ An easement in gross is a mere personal privilege to use the land of another and cannot be transferred. *Windham v. Riddle*, 381 S.C. 192, 202, 672 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2009); *see also Rhett*, 401 S.C. at 492, 736 S.E.2d at 881. An appurtenant easement is one that “inheres in the land to which it is appurtenant, is essentially necessary to its enjoyment, and passes with it. An essential feature of a right of way appurtenant is that it must have one of its termini on the land to which it is claimed to be appurtenant.” *Whaley*

¹ A third type of easement is a commercial easement in gross, but that is not applicable to this dispute.

v. Stevens, 21 S.C. 221 (1884); *accord. Windham*, 381 S.C. at 202, 672 S.E.2d at 583; *Sandy Island Corp. v. Ragsdale*, 246 S.C. 414, 420, 143 S.E.2d 803, 806 (1965); *Rhett*, 401 S.C. at 492, 736 S.E.2d at 881; *Ballington v. Paxton*, 327 S.C. 372, 380, 488 S.E.2d 882, 887 (Ct. App. 1997).

Here, the Bank asked Black for an affirmation of the easement in 1971, an act that leads to the inference the Bank was uncertain the original easement granted in 1911 by Hinson was transferable, or in other words, whether the original easement was a mere easement in gross. Black reaffirmed the existence of the encumbering easement in 1971 “to the extent as agreed upon by the parties.” (R. pp. 165-68). What was the extent of the original grant of easement and was it in gross or appurtenant? Was it transferable? The answer to the questions is found in the definition of an appurtenant easement and the plats in the record.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding the easement is appurtenant rather than in gross because there is no terminus on the dominant estate.

“Unless an easement has all the elements necessary to be an appurtenant easement, it will be characterized as a mere easement in gross.” *Springob v. Farrar*, 334 S.C. 585, 589, 514 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997)). “The absence of a terminus on [the dominant estate] is fatal to [the] claim of an appurtenant easement.” *Shia v. Pendergrass*, 222 S.C. 342, 351, 72 S.E.2d 699, 703 (1952); *see also Springob*, 334 S.C. at 589, 514 S.E.2d at 137; *Windham*, 381 S.C. at 202, 672 S.E.2d at 583 (finding an easement to be in gross because the requirement of a terminus on the dominant estate was not met).

The decision of the Court of Appeals expressly acknowledges “[t]he easement described in the 1911 Deed was located entirely on 45 Legare and ran from Legare Street to the western lot line that bordered the Saint Peter’s graveyard wall.” *Williams v. Tamsberg*, Op. No. 5596 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed Sept. 19, 2018) (Shearhouse Adv.Sh. No. 37 at 38). South Carolina case law

establishes that the absence of a terminus on the dominant estate is fatal to the claim of an appurtenant easement. *See Shia*, 222 S.C. at 351, 72 S.E.2d at 703. As a result, the Court of Appeals should have held that the 1911 Deed created an easement in gross, rather than an easement appurtenant, because the easement did not have a terminus on 47 Legare.

The 1911 Deed described the easement as an “alleyway eight (8) feet wide . . . situate, lying and being immediately to the south of [47 Legare], and being the southern boundary of said [47 Legare,]” which lay entirely on the servient estate, now known as 45 Legare. (R. pp. 1-2, 157-58). The site of the original easement is confirmed by the 1971 Cummings and McCrady plat, depicting the original easement as enclosed within the letters B, E, F, G, C, H, and B (R. p. 177), and the Covenant executed by Black in 1971. (R. pp. 165-68). The 1971 Cummings and McCrady plat shows that the easement ran from Legare Street to the western lot line of 45 Legare and at no point entered 47 Legare. (R. p. 177). Thus, there was never a terminus on 47 Legare; the termini being Legare Street and the western lot line of 45 Legare. *See Shia*, 222 S.C. at 351, 72 S.E.2d at 703 (“The absence of a terminus on [the dominant estate] is fatal to [the] claim of an appurtenant easement.”). Accordingly, the 1911 Deed created an easement in gross, which is a personal privilege to the owner of the land benefitted by the easement and is not transferable. *See Rhett*, 401 S.C. at 492, 736 S.E.2d at 881. As such, the easement in gross on 47 Legare expired upon Julia Dill’s death in 1970.

Here, the trial court relied on *Whaley v. Stevens*, 21 S.C. 221 (1884), to conclude that Respondent and her predecessors in title enjoyed an easement appurtenant. *Whaley*, however, is, at best, unclear on the issue of a terminus or the definition thereof. In a dispute in Greenville County over a reserved alleyway from street to lot line, the alleyway lying totally on the servient estate, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that the easement was in gross for lack of a

terminus on the dominant estate. *Steele v. Williams*, 204 S.C. 124, 131, 28 S.E.2d 644, 647 (1944). The easement was created by reciprocal deeds, and both the grantor and the grantee stated the easement was “being reserved for the joint use of the grantor and grantee, their heirs and assigns forever.” *Id.* at 127, 28 S.E.2d at 645. The property under easement was an alley, twelve feet wide that entered the servient estate from the street and ended at the lot line opposite the point of entry. *Id.* A dispute arose when the property was subdivided, and the owner of one of the new lots sought to maintain access to his property via the alleyway. After finding the easement could not be an appurtenant easement because its terminus was not on the proposed dominant estate, the court then addressed the reservation language in the deeds:

[t]he fact that the words “heirs and assigns forever” were used does not and cannot change an easement in gross to an easement appurtenant to land. Even if it were admitted that the use of the words “heirs and assigns forever” connoted an intention of the parties to create an easement appurtenant to land, it would bring no advantage to the appellant. For to so do would contravene an established rule of law, and whatever may have been the intentions of the parties, it must yield to this rule of law so well established in this State. This alley way lies wholly on the land of respondent. It touches appellant’s lot only as a boundary. To hold that said alley was appurtenant to appellant’s land would be to disregard well established rules of law, and condemn land owned solely by respondent to the perpetual use of others.

Id. at 132, 28 S.E.2d at 647; *see also Ballington v. Paxton*, 327 S.C. 372, 381, 488 S.E.2d 882, 887 (Ct. App. 1997).

An easement cannot be transformed from an easement in gross to an appurtenant easement by the words “heirs and assigns forever.” If the easement as created is an easement in gross, the grantor cannot change the nature of the easement by the words “to run with the land.” Because the subject easement does not terminate on the dominant estate, and thus, cannot be an appurtenant easement, the words “to run with the land” can have no effect. To find otherwise would disregard established law requiring an appurtenant easement to have a terminus on the dominant estate.

Further, Black's affirmation in the Covenant of April 5, 1971, was limited to "the extent as agreed upon by the parties"; it did not add anything to the existing easement. (R. pp. 165-68). Rather, the conveyance from the Bank to Black actually shortened the length of the easement, and it did not create a terminus on 47 Legare. (R. pp. 164, 177). Instead of the terminus being the western lot line of 45 Legare, the 1971 Covenant stated that the new "terminus thereof" would be "the line F, H" as depicted on the Cummings and McCrady plat. (R. pp. 166, 177). Line F, H lies completely on 45 Legare. (R. pp. 164-66, 177). Accordingly, the easement remained as an easement in gross because there was still no terminus on 47 Legare, the dominant estate. Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the easement is appurtenant to 47 Legare because there is no terminus on 47 Legare.

B. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the easement is an appurtenant easement because it is not essentially necessary to the enjoyment of the dominant estate.

Not only must an appurtenant easement have a terminus on the dominant estate, it must "be essentially necessary to the enjoyment thereof." *Ballington*, 327 S.C. at 380, 488 S.E.2d at 887; *see also Sandy Island*, 246 S.C. at 420, 143 S.E.2d at 806. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the easement was necessary to the enjoyment of 47 Legare for various reasons. Specifically, the use of the easement is no longer essentially necessary to the enjoyment of 47 Legare because the garage for which the easement was created no longer exists; the easement is no longer used as a driveway to access a garage but is used primarily by workmen as a footpath; Respondent's gate at the rear of 47 Legare is too narrow to allow the passage of any vehicle, including a golf cart; Respondent and workmen can access the rear of 47 Legare from the front gate on 47 Legare; Respondent can just as easily utilize the front gate on 47 Legare, as she does the rear gate on 47 Legare, to bring large-scale equipment and tools to the rear of 47 Legare; and the parking spot on the front of 47 Legare provides adequate space to park a car.

In *Windham v. Riddle*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held it was questionable whether an easement for access to a pond for irrigation was essentially necessary when the dominant estate was bordered by a river that provided a reasonable alternative for irrigation. *Windham v. Riddle*, 381 S.C. 192, 204, 672 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2009). Similar to the *Windham* court, the Supreme Court in *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, held there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether an easement was essentially necessary to the enjoyment of the Tupper's estate, the dominant estate, where the Tupper's asserted they had no means of access to their property other than via the easement, but testimony at a hearing showed that alternative routes were merely inconvenient. *Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 326 S.C. 318, 326, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997).

In affirming the Master, the Court of Appeals mistakenly held that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether the easement was necessary to the present enjoyment of 47 Legare on the following grounds: (1) Respondent "has continuously used the easement since purchasing [47 Legare]"; (2) Respondent "has driven a golf cart down the easement to the rear of 47 Legare"; (3) Respondent "uses the easement for off-street parking"; and (4) Respondent "needs the easement to bring large equipment and tools to the rear of 47 Legare." *Williams v. Tamsberg*, Op. No. 5596 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed Sept. 19, 2018) (Shearhouse Adv.Sh. No. 37 at 50).

In 2004, Respondent began building a masonry wall on the property line between 45 and 47 Legare, which ran the length of the easement and blocked access to 47 Legare from the easement. (R. pp. 64, 87-88, 154). When the masonry wall was completed, the only entrance to 47 Legare from the easement on 45 Legare was a foot gate, between three and four feet in width. (R. pp. 64, 87-88, 154). Respondent's three-to-four foot gate at the rear of 47 Legare is not wide enough for any vehicle, including a golf cart, to pass through. (R. pp. 88, 154). Further, the Record on Appeal establishes that the parking spot on 47 Legare, which fronts 47 Legare Street, provides

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