**RECEIVED**  
FEB 11 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

**Appeal from Charleston County  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity**

---

**CASE NO. 2014-CP-10-5608  
APPELLATE CASE 2016-000886**

---

James Bradley Williams and Robert Blair Kline, Jr..... Appellant,

v.

Merle S. Tamsberg,..... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Matthew E. Tillman  
Womble Bond Dickinson (US), LLP  
5 Exchange Street  
P. O. Box 999  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402  
(843) 722-3400

David M. Swanson  
Jane Bouch Stoney  
Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, PA

**COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. **IS THERE ANY LEGAL BASIS FOR THE COURT TO REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION PURSUANT TO RULE 242, SCACR?**
  
- II. **DID THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY INTERPRET ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA LAW BY AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S HOLDING THAT THE EASEMENT IS AN EASEMENT APPURTENANT AS A MATTER OF LAW?**

## ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

### I. THE APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO CITE ANY BASIS FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.<sup>1</sup>

Both the Appellate Court Rules and this Court's precedent provide that certiorari review is the exception, not the rule, and that it is only available in cases that present unique or meaningful issues. *See, e.g., State v. Lyles*, 381 S.C. 442, 443–44, 673 S.E.2d 811, 812 (2009) (emphasizing that certiorari review is available “only where special reasons justify the exercise of that power”); Rule 242(b), SCACR (“A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons.”).

The Rule provides for certain reasons that warrant review, including:

- (1) Where there are novel questions of law.
- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

*Id.*

This case falls far short of the high threshold for certiorari review. In fact, the Appellants have cited no “special reason” justifying this Court's review of the Court of Appeals holding. Rather, the Appellants appear to simply disagree with the Court of Appeals decision, as the entirety of their argument only rehashes the arguments made before the trial court and Court of Appeals without citing any support for certiorari review.

---

<sup>1</sup> The facts as stated in Appellants' Statement of Facts are undisputed, and Respondent does not include a Counterstatement of Facts.

The Court of Appeals Opinion was unanimous, and there were no novel questions of law or conflicts with a prior decision of the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals applied one Supreme Court case - *Whaley v. Stevens*, 21 S.C. 221 (1884) - and properly distinguished another - *Steele v. Williams*, 204 S.C. 124, 28 S.E.2d 644 (1944) - in reaching their decision that the subject easement has a terminus on the estate owned by the Respondent. Likewise, the Court of Appeals did not distinguish or create new law in reaching its conclusion that there was no evidence that the subject easement was not necessary at the time it was established, or presently. Therefore, since there is no special reason warranting the exercise of the Court's certiorari power, the Appellant's petition must be denied.

**II. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA LAW BY AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S HOLDING THAT THE SUBJECT EASEMENT IS AN EASEMENT APPURTENANT WHICH RUNS WITH THE LAND.**

To determine whether an easement is in gross or appurtenant, the court must determine the intent of the parties. "In construing a deed, the intention of the grantor must be ascertained and effectuated, unless that intention contravenes some well settled rule of law or public policy." *Windham v. Riddle*, 381 S.C. 192, 672 S.E.2d 578, 582-3 (2009), quoting *Wayburn v. Smith*, 270 S.C. 38, 41-42, 239 S.E.2d 890, 892 (1977). "In determining the grantor's intent, the deed must be construed as a whole and effect given to every part if it can be done consistently with the law." *Id.*, quoting *Gardner v. Mozingo*, 293 S.C. 23, 25, 358 S.E.2d 390, 391-92 (1987). "The intention of the grantor must be found within the four corners of the deed." *Id.*

An appurtenant easement is one that "inheres in the land, concerns the premises, has one terminus on the land of the party claiming it, and is essentially necessary to the enjoyment thereof." *Id.*; *Smith v. Comm'rs of Pub. Works of City of Charleston*, 312 S.C. 460, 441 S.E.2d 331 (Ct.App.1994); *Carolina Land Company, Inc. v. Bland*, 265 S.C. 98, 217 S.E.2d 16 (1975); *Sandy Island Corp. v. Ragsdale*, 246 S.C. 414, 143 S.E.2d 803 (1965); 12 S.C. Juris. *Easements* § 3 (2015). An appurtenant easement passes

with the dominant estate. *Id.* “[E]asements in gross are not favored by the courts, and an easement will never be presumed as personal when it may fairly be construed as appurtenant to some other estate.” *Rhett v. Gray*, 401 S.C. 478, 492, 736 S.E.2d 873, 880 (Ct. App. 2012).

The Appellant does not appear to contest that in the original grant of easement in 1911, and modification in 1971, the owner intended to grant an easement running with the land. The 1911 deed conveying 47 Legare from W.H. Hinson to Julia Dill (“1911 Deed”) described it as an “easement to run with the land.” (R. pp. 77-78). The 1971 covenant from Margaret Black to the owner of 47 Legare, in which the easement was reaffirmed, described the easement as “running with the land and shall be binding on the [owner of 45 Legare Street], her heirs, assigns and successors in title.” (R. 80). Both statements demonstrate the owners’ unambiguous intent that the easement be appurtenant to 47 Legare.

The Appellants argue that, despite the clear intent of the owners of 45 Legare in 1911 and 1971, the easement cannot be considered appurtenant because it has no terminus in the dominant parcel or, in the alternative, is no longer necessary to the enjoyment of the dominant estate. The Appellants are incorrect from both a factual and legal standpoint.

**A. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the subject easement has a terminus on 47 Legare.**

The facts in this matter are uncontradicted. The easement was created by operation of the 1911 Deed, and ran the entire length of the boundary between 45 Legare and 47 Legare. (R. pp. 77-78). In 1971, the easement was shortened to approximately half the length of the boundary when the then-owner of 45 Legare Street reaffirmed the easement in the 1971 Covenant. (R. pp. 79-81). As set forth above, the language of both easement documents clearly evidences the intent to create an appurtenant easement running with the land.

The Appellants contend that the easement did not have a terminus on 47 Legare Street simply because it runs parallel to 47 Legare on the border between the two parcels. Apparently, the Appellant contends that, for an access easement to be appurtenant, it must run across the

servient estate and have a clear dead-end in the dominant estate, presumably with no other portion of the easement touching the dominant estate. This argument is nonsensical, has no support in the law, and would frustrate the clear intention of the parties' predecessors in title.

The "terminus" requirement is in place to ensure that the easement actually touches the dominant parcel. Indeed, an appurtenant easement is one that "inheres in the land [and] concerns the [dominant] premises . . . ." *Windham*, 672 S.E.2d at 582-3 (2009). The terminus requirement is in place to preclude a property owner from obtaining an appurtenant (and therefore permanent) easement that does not concern the dominant parcel.<sup>2</sup> Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that an easement that touches the dominant parcel and does not extend past the lot line of the dominant estate has a terminus in the dominant parcel and is an appurtenant easement. *Williams v. Tamsberg*, 821 S.E.2d 494, 502 (S.C. App. 2018).

The Court of Appeals properly relied on the *Whaley* decision for support. In *Whaley*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina made it clear that an easement must "touch" or "reach to" to the dominant parcel:

But a more fatal objection is that, in describing the right of way in question, it is not alleged that it begins on the Caneslatch plantation, or that it even leads from said plantation. Indeed, from the description of the way as given in the complaint, it does not appear that it touches Caneslatch plantation at any point or reaches to it.

*Whaley*, 21 S.C. at 224-5. In *Whaley*, the purported dominant parcel was Caneslatch plantation, which was separated by a public road from Seven Oaks plantation. Seven Oaks plantation bordered the Stono River. The plaintiff's easement in *Whaley* provided for "a right of way, by means of a road leading from the public road over the adjoining land of the said Defendant, known as the Seven Oaks plantation, to a creek leading into the said Stono River." *Id.* at 224. In

---

<sup>2</sup> An extreme example would be the granting of a purported appurtenant easement to a family member who owns property several miles from the servient parcel.

other words, the purported easement terminated not on the dominant parcel, but on a public road, and did not touch the dominant parcel. In finding that the plaintiff did not have an appurtenant easement, the *Whaley* court wrote:

But a more fatal objection is that, in describing the right of way in question, it is not alleged that it begins on the Caneslatch plantation, or that it even leads from said plantation. Indeed, from the description of the way as given in the complaint, it does not appear that it touches Caneslatch plantation at any point or reaches to it.

*Id.* at 224-5. South Carolina courts have reiterated the principal that the easement must touch the land of the party claiming the easement where the court found an easement to be in gross where the person reserving an easement did not actually own the dominant parcel. *Springob v. Farrar*, 334 S.C. 585, 588-589, 514 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Easement at issue satisfies the rule articulated in *Whaley*. The Easement “touches” Respondent’s property “and reaches to it” at the lot line, and more specifically the area of the present gate, where it has its terminus. *Id.* Indeed, the “driveway” or “carriage way” referenced in the 1911 Deed is the subject easement itself, which terminates in Respondent’s backyard. In exercising use of the subject easement, Respondent and her predecessors-in-title proceeded directly from Respondent’s property to the subject easement without a gap.

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished *Steele v. Williams*, 204 S.C. 124, 28 S.E.2d 644 (1944). First, in *Steele*, the court was not faced with a question regarding the enforceability of an easement between the owners of the original servient and dominant parcels. Rather, the appellant was the purchaser of a subdivided portion of the servient parcel which happened to border the driveway easement crossing both properties. Thus, the appellant was not even an owner of the dominant parcel, but rather was trying to piggyback on an easement to provide an alternative route to the back of the servient parcel, which already had a 70 foot frontage on a public road. Had the owner of the dominant parcel instituted the case, the result likely would

have been different. Further, the Court of Appeals properly noted that the Steele easement extended beyond the property line of the parcel claiming the easement. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals properly determined that the subject easement touches 47 Legare and therefore has a terminus on the dominant parcel. This is all that is required under South Carolina law. For that reason, the Appellants' Petition for Certiorari must be denied.

**B. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the subject easement was, at all relevant times, necessary to the enjoyment of 47 Legare.**

As set forth above, an easement must be essentially necessary to the enjoyment of the dominant parcel to be considered appurtenant when it was created. *Smith*, 312 S.C. 460, 441 S.E.2d 331 (Ct.App.1994). The Court of Appeals, in affirming the judgment of the Master-in-Equity, properly held that, as a matter of law, the subject easement was essentially necessary at the time of its' creation in 1911 and modification in 1971. *Williams v. Tamsberg*, 821 S.E.2d 494, 503-504 (S.C. App. 2018). The Appellants, without arguing any of the traditional bases warranting certiorari, request that this Court review the finding of the Master in Equity and Court of Appeals simply because they believe the evidence demonstrates that the subject easement has become no longer necessary since 1971. That argument would require this Court to incorrectly apply South Carolina law, to second-guess the determination of the fact-finder where there is no novel question of law, conflict with a prior Supreme Court decision or other basis for certiorari, and ignore the evidence that the subject easement is essentially necessary in the present day.

First, it is uncontradicted that the subject easement was essentially necessary to provide access to a then-existing garage at the time of creation in 1911 and 1971. That finding ends the inquiry. The Appellants have urged this Court to determine that this express easement can be terminated because the easement is no longer necessary to the enjoyment of the dominant parcel.

However, the Appellant did not cite any authority for that assertion, and the assertion is not supported in applicable law.

Indeed, “[t]he circumstances under which an easement can be terminated depend upon the type of easement.” 25 Am Jur 2d *Easements and Licenses in Real Property* § 83 (2018). “An express easement continues regardless of whether the dominant estate needs the easement. *Id.* “[N]either an implied easement by prior use nor a prescriptive easement or *express easement* can be terminated solely because the necessity for the easement ceases.” *Id.* (emphasis added). In South Carolina, an easement implied by necessity may be extinguished when the necessity ends, but that rule does not extend to express easements. The Court of Appeals recognized and properly applied this principle under South Carolina law: *Williams v. Tamsberg*, 821 S.E.2d 494, 503 (S.C. App. 2018) *citing Smith*, 312 S.C. at 464 n.2, 441 S.E.2d at 334 n.2 (“However, the end of a necessity appears to terminate an easement appurtenant that is implied by necessity and will not terminate an express easement.”).<sup>3</sup> Simply put, the subject easement met the requirements for an appurtenant easement at the time of creation and modification, and may not be destroyed even in the event that it is no longer necessary to the enjoyment of the dominant parcel.

Second, the Appellants attempt to cobble together materials from the record to show that the Respondent has an existing parking spot and gate in the front of 47 Legare which renders the subject easement no longer necessary. The Appellants contend that “while possibly less

---

<sup>3</sup> The argument set forth by the Appellants is more appropriately characterized as an argument that the Respondent has abandoned the subject easement. However, the standard for proving abandonment is very difficult. *See Carolina Land Co. v. Bland*, 265 S.C. 98, 109, 217 S.E.2d 16, 21 (1975) (“[T]he mere nonuse of an easement created by deed for a period however long will not amount to an abandonment, but there must be other acts by the owner of the dominant estate conclusively manifesting either the present intention to relinquish the easement or purpose inconsistent with its further existence.”). The Appellants clearly recognized this, as they did not appeal the Master in Equity’s grant of summary judgment on this issue. (R. pp. 8-10).


convenient, there is means of access to the rear of 47 Legare other than via the easement.” This again ignores the ruling of the Court of Appeals and applicable law. The fact that the Respondent has other means of human access to the rear of 47 Legare (including through the main house) is irrelevant. The Court of Appeals held that the subject easement remains necessary to allow large equipment to the rear of 47 Legare. *Williams v. Tamsberg*, 821 S.E.2d 494, 504 (S.C. App. 2018). This finding is uncontradicted, and is in accord with South Carolina case law. *See Proctor v. Steedley*, 398 S.C. 561, 575, 730 S.E.2d 357, 365 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding that an access road across the servient estate was necessary, and therefore the easement appurtenant, where the road was the only reasonable method for vehicle access to the northern portion of the dominant estate due to the presence of a creek bisecting the dominant estate.).

In sum, the subject easement was reasonably necessary for the enjoyment of the dominant estate at the time of creation and modification of the easement, as well as in the present day. For these reasons, the easement is, and always has been, an appurtenant easement running with the land and remains valid and enforceable against the Appellants.

#### CONCLUSION

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